STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Horry County

Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

DEC 18 2018

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

PHILIP DAVID GUDERYON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-002168

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial judge err by failing to direct a verdict of acquittal in Appellant's favor where the state failed to present any evidence that Appellant's conduct caused the purported injuries?
- II. Where Appellant, who did not use deadly force, was charged with assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, did the trial judge err by instructing the jury that in order for self-defense to apply, Appellant must have been in fear of great bodily injury or death?
- III. In response to a jury question, did the trial judge err in instructing the jury that in order to find Appellant guilty of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature all the state had to prove regarding intent was that Appellant intended to injure another person with no regard to whether Appellant intended the level of injury that occurred?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 21, 2016, an Horry County grand jury indicted Appellant for assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN). R. 351-352. The state, represented by Joshua D. Holford and Cara J. Walker, called the case to trial before the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson and a jury on October 9-12, 2017. R. 1. J. Eric Fox represented Appellant. R. 1. At the close of the state's case, Appellant moved for a directed verdict, explaining the state failed to prove causation. R. 150, l. 9 – R. 152, l. 3; R. 156, l. 18 – R. 158, l. 25. Judge Culbertson ultimately denied Appellant's motion, but only after explaining, "[t]his was a close call." R. 161, l. 25 – R. 162, l. 4.

At the conclusion of the case, Judge Culbertson instructed the jury regarding ABHAN, assault and battery in the second degree, assault and battery in the third degree, and self-defense. R. 294, l. 7 – R. 300, l. 25. During deliberations, the jury asked, "[A]re we to consider intent as to which level of assault this is or is this the resulting harm the deciding factor?" R. 312, ll. 22-25; R. 326. Over objection, the judge instructed the jury as follows: "To convict the Defendant of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant intended to unlawfully injure another person, and either great bodily injury to that person resulted or the act was accomplished by means likely to produce death or great bodily injury." R. 319, ll. 10-16. His instructions on the lesser-included offenses followed similarly. R. 319, l. 16 – R. 320, l. 18.

Approximately ten minutes later, the jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 321, l. 22 – R. 322, l. 5. Judge Culbertson sentenced Appellant to ten years imprisonment. R. 324, ll. 2-7; R. 353.

On October 16, 2017, Appellant served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

## ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge erred by failing to direct a verdict of acquittal in Appellant's favor where the state failed to present any evidence that Appellant's conduct caused the purported injuries.

### **Standard of review**

“A case should be submitted to the jury when the evidence is circumstantial ‘if there is any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.’” State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 139, 708 S.E.2d 774, 776 (2011) (quoting State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000)). “Evidence must constitute positive proof of facts and circumstances which reasonably tends to prove guilt.” Id. “Unless there is a total failure of competent evidence as to the charges alleged, refusal by the trial judge to direct a verdict of acquittal is not error.” Id. at 139, 708 S.E.2d at 776-777. “On appeal of the denial of a directed verdict of acquittal, this Court must look at the evidence in the light most favorable to the state.” Id. at 139, 708 S.E.2d at 777; see also State v. Hepburn, 406 S.C. 416, 429 753 S.E.2d 402, 409 (2013). If the state failed to present any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove guilt of the accused, the appellate court must reverse the lower court's denial of the directed verdict motion. Hepburn, 406 S.C. at 416, 429 S.E.2d at 409.

### **Relevant facts**

#### *State's case-in-chief*

Appellant and his friend, James “Jimer” Petrocine, went to Carlos'n Charlie's on October 16, 2015. R. 116, ll. 18-25; R. 122, ll. 3-5. Ryan Whiteside went with them as well. R. 122, ll. 20-25. The trio “met up with a bunch of people” at the bar. R. 116, ll. 23-25.

Jimer ran into his friend, Mariah Stevens, as well. R. 104, ll. 15-16; R. 118, ll. 9-17. When Jimer was on the dance floor, Mariah approached him. R. 118, ll. 18-21. According to Jimer, he was playing with Mariah's boobs while the two were out on the dance floor together. R. 118, ll. 20-21; R. 123, ll. 5-12. Jimer claimed that Justin Hodges approached them on the dance floor and grabbed Jimer's arm. R. 118, l. 22; R. 123, ll. 22-23. Everyone agreed that Justin was a "big guy." R. 124, ll. 7-10.

Appellant explained that when Justin approached Jimer, one of Jimer's friends indicated to Appellant that there was a confrontation between Jimer and Justin. State's Exhibit #8. Seeing the two arguing and assuming Justin was jealous of Jimer's interaction with Mariah, Appellant walked over to them, encouraging them to "chill." State's Exhibit #8. However, Justin and Jimer continued to argue. State's Exhibit #8. Justin, who was bigger than Appellant and Jimer, was acting aggressively and threateningly. State's Exhibit #8. Justin pushed Justin and appeared to be swinging at him, and Appellant hit Justin in the face. State's Exhibit #8. Appellant felt intimidated and scared by Justin's aggressive and threatening conduct. State's Exhibit #8. Appellatn was clear – he was not trying to hurt Justin, he only wanted to defend himself. State's Exhibit #8.

Jimer claimed that when Justin explained that Mariah was his girlfriend, Jimer said, "[Y]ou can have your girl," and the two then shook hands. R. 118, l. 23; R. 123, ll. 24-25. Further, Jimer claimed Justin was hit almost immediately after the two men shook hands. R. 118, ll. 23-24; R. 119, ll. 21-24. Jimer explained that he "felt some wind" over his shoulder, then he "heard like a hit." R. 120, ll. 3-4; R. 125, l. 23 – R. 126, l. 1; R. 129, ll. 6-12. Jimer was adamant that Appellant was behind him and not behind Justin. R. 129, ll. 6-12; State's Exhibit #8 (Appellant likewise was adamant that he was not behind Justin). Thereafter, "Justin was on

the ground.” R. 120, ll. 4-5; State’s Exhibit #7. Jimer did not see who hit Justin. R. 120, ll. 6-7; R. 126, ll. 20-21.

Mariah told a different version. Mariah claimed that Jimer “touched” her, and that she told him not to touch her. R. 104, ll. 18-20. According to Mariah, Jimer touched her breast when she gave him a hug. R. 106, ll. 19-22. Mariah further claimed that she left Jimer, went to Justin, and told Justin what Jimer had done. R. 103, ll. 23-24; R. 104, ll. 20-22. Then, Justin approached Jimer, where the two talked. R. 105, ll. 1-2. Mariah claimed that after Justin talked to Jimer, “everything was fine,” and Justin and Jimer “even played pool” together. R. 105, ll. 4-8. Mariah last saw Justin standing next to a wall talking to someone. R. 105, ll. 15-21. She went to the bathroom. R. 105, ll. 12-24. When she returned from the bathroom, Justin was “gone.” R. 105, ll. 23-24.

It was undisputed that the bar’s bouncers dragged Justin, who was unconscious, outside the bar. R. 25, ll. 9-14; R. 127, ll. 22-23; State’s Exhibit #9; State’s Exhibit #10. The bouncers did not wait for medical personnel to arrive before they moved Justin’s body outside. R. 26, ll. 2-4; State’s Exhibit #9; State’s Exhibit #10. The bouncers deposited Justin’s body on the floor inside the bar at least once before finally dumping his body outside the bar. State’s Exhibit #7.

At some point, Justin arrived at the Grand Strand Medical Center. R. 64, ll. 2-7. Although individuals testified to observing an ambulance at the bar, the state presented no witnesses or other evidence concerning how Justin arrived at the hospital, who called for the ambulance, the condition in which he was found by emergency medical personnel, or what happened to Justin between being dumped outside by the bouncers and arriving at the hospital. Dr. Joseph Cheatle cared for Justin while he was in the hospital. R. 64, ll. 2-7. According to Dr. Cheatle, Justin suffered a subgaleal hematoma on the left side and a subdural hematoma on the

right frontal lobe. R. 65, ll. 19-24. In Dr. Cheatle's opinion, Justin "had a force applied to the back of his head" causing the "front of his head on the exact opposite trajectory" to bleed. R. 67, ll. 1-3. Further, Dr. Cheatle explained Justin suffered a vascular skull fracture. R. 72, ll. 5-11. Dr. Cheatle explained the force to the back of Justin's head could have been from human contact or any contact with a hard surface, such as a bat, pipe wrench, or any number of things. R. 75, l. 16 – R. 76, l. 22.

The police arrived at the hospital because the hospital was treating an unknown male. R. 85, ll. 3-9; R. 85, ll. 21-22. The police were trying to find out his identity. R. 85, l. 24 – R. 86, l. 1. From the hospital staff, the police received two phones, two sets of keys, and a wallet or a change purse. R. 86, ll. 8-12. Inside the change purse, the police found an identification card. R. 86, ll. 13-14. The police then went to Broadway at the Beach, the area in which Carlos'n Charlie's was located. R. 86, ll. 16-19. The officers "started walking through the parking lot clicking key fobs." R. 86, ll. 20-24. When a car "chirped" in response to the clicking, the police "ran the tag," which revealed it belonged to Justin. R. 87, ll. 1-2. In the car, the police found a woman's purse along with some for "an Ashley, a Kaitlin, and then Justin." R. 87, ll. 4-7. The police also searched for Justin's name on Facebook. R. 87, ll. 8-14.

Initially, the police reached out Ashley. R. 87, l. 16. Ashley indicated Kaitlin was Justin's roommate. R. 87, ll. 20-24. Then, on a lark, the police went to Carlos'n Charlie's. R. 88, ll. 5-11. The police obtained video surveillance evidence from Carlos'n Charlie's. State's Exhibit #7; State's Exhibit #9.

*Motion for directed verdict*

At the conclusion of the state's case, defense counsel moved for a directed verdict on the ABHAN charge. R. 150, ll. 16-19. Defense counsel explained the state failed to show causation. R. 150, ll. 19-20. The video presented by the state merely showed Justin on the ground. R. 151, ll. 1-7. The video did not show how he ended upon the ground. R. 151, ll. 1-7. He argued that "[i]t could be true that [Appellant] did punch him in the face, but that he fell, struck his head and injured himself completely unrelated to that event." R. 151, ll. 9-11. The state simply could not prove what caused Justin's injury. R. 157, l. 8 – R. 158, l. 22. Due to the state's "fatal gap in evidence," defense counsel argued Appellant was entitled to a directed verdict. R. 152, ll. 1-3.

The state theorized that Appellant approached Justin from behind and struck him in the back of the head, which somehow caused Justin to fall backwards with his feet up. R. 153, ll. 12-18. To support its theory, the state relied almost exclusively on Dr. Cheatle's testimony that the injury was to the rear of Justin's head. R. 154, ll. 3-21.

Although he ultimately denied the motion for directed verdict, Judge Culbertson indicated "[t]his was a close call." R. 160, l. 25 – R. 161, l. 1. He explained that he did not know that there was evidence that proved the state's theory or where a reasonable juror could rely upon beyond a reasonable doubt that there was a sucker punch to the back of the head. R. 161, ll. 1-5. However, he thought the state had presented evidence that "there was a punch by [Appellant] that created great bodily injury." R. 161, ll. 6-8. Judge Culbertson was perplexed because there was "evidence of a crime, but not based upon the state's theory." R. 161, ll. 13-15. He saw absolutely no evidence of a sucker punch to the back of the head, which was the entirety of the state's case. R. 161, ll. 15-18. Nevertheless, he concluded there was a punch and "there

was evidence that it was a likelihood or did cause great bodily injury.” R. 161, l. 24 – R. 162, l. 4.

*Defense case-in-chief*

Ambrose Heavener was a patron of Carlos’n Charlie’s on October 17, 2015. R. 199, l. 15 – R. 200, l. 14. He recalled an altercation happening that night. R. 200, ll. 15-17. More specifically, he remembered there was a “standoff” followed by “a swing.” R. 200, ll. 18-23. He heard people arguing, which caused him to turn around to determining what was happening. R. 201, ll. 14-18. Heavener saw “two people standing pretty much chest to chest, face to face, ... going at it pretty good for a minute there.” R. 201, l. 21 – R. 202, l. 1. The people had “their fists kind of balled at their sides and just looked like they were fixing to start a fight.” R. 202, ll. 1-3. He then saw a guy approach the men, trying to calm them down. R. 202, ll. 16-23.

One of the men “turned real fast toward [Appellant] like he was gonna hit him and, ... it looked like he was about to hit him.” R. 204, ll. 1-3. Instead, Appellant “swung and hit him and he fell down.” R. 204, ll. 3-4. The man looked aggressive and as if he may attack. R. 204, ll. 9-13. Appellant struck the man on the face on the left side. R. 204, ll. 18-21.

Steven Sumpter was at Carlos’n Charlie’s as well. R. 219, ll. 8-10. Appellant sat across the bar from Steven. R. 224, ll. 4-6. Steven saw someone approach Appellant and direct his attention to the dance floor. R. 224, ll. 6-10. Steven followed their gaze. R. 224, ll. 8-10. Appellant walked toward “a little commotion going on over near the dance floor.” R. 224, ll. 16-17. It looked like there was going to be a fight. R. 224, ll. 14-19. Appellant tried to step in between the individuals who were close to fighting. R. 225, ll. 5-12.

According to Steven, one of the men took a swing at Appellant. R. 227, ll. 7-9. Appellant “punched back and hit the larger gentleman.” R. 227, ll. 10-11. Appellant hit the man

in the face. R. 229, ll. 13-17. The larger man fell backwards, apparently, “knocked out on his feet.” R. 229, ll. 18-20.

*Renewed motion for directed verdict*

At the conclusion of the defense’s case, counsel moved for a directed verdict explaining there was no evidence to support “the state’s theory that this was a sucker punch, ambush from behind.” R. 235, ll. 18-22. There was no evidence of a witness to say what happened. R. 235, ll. 22-23. While there was evidence that Justin suffered an injury to the back of his head, there was no evidence that the injury was the result of Appellant hitting him from behind. R. 235, l. 24 – R. 236, l. 1. The judge denied the motion. R. 236, ll. 9-10.<sup>1</sup>

**Discussion**

A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the prosecution fails to provide evidence of the offense charged. State v. Brown, 103 S.C. 437, 88 S.E. 21 (1916); State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006); State v. McHoney, 344 S.C. 85, 97, 544 S.E.2d 30, 36 (2001). “If there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused,” the trial judge may deny the motion for directed verdict. State v. Lollis, 343 S.C. 580, 584, 541 S.E.2d 254, 256 (2001); State v. Pinckney, 339 S.C. 346, 349, 529 S.E.2d 526, 527 (2000); State v. Martin, 340 S.C. 597, 533 S.E.2d 572 (2000). When the prosecution relies exclusively on circumstantial evidence, the trial judge must direct a verdict in the defendant’s favor unless there is substantial circumstantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the defendant or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced. State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 139, 708 S.E.2d 774, 776 (2011); State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 535 S.E.2d 126 (2000). Likewise, a directed verdict is appropriate when the evidence produced “merely

---

<sup>1</sup> After the jury’s verdict, defense counsel moved for a new trial, which the judge denied. R. 323, ll. 4-25.

raises a suspicion the accused is guilty.” Lollis, 343 S.C. at 584, 541 S.E.2d at 256; State v. Arnold, 361 S.C. 386, 389-390, 605 S.E.2d 529, 531 (2004); State v. Schrock, 283 S.C. 129, 132, 322 S.E.2d 450, 451-452 (1984); State v. Muhammed, 338 S.C. 22, 524 S.E.2d 637 (Ct. App. 1999). Our courts define suspicion as “a belief or opinion as to guilt based upon facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof.” Lollis, 343 S.C. at 584, 541 S.E.2d at 256; State v. Hyder, 242 S.C. 372, 131 S.E.2d 96 (1963).

In Mitchell, 341 S.C. at 409, 535 S.E.2d at 127, the South Carolina Supreme Court held the lower court erred in failing to direct a verdict where the only evidence presented against the defendant was his fingerprint at the scene of the burglary. Likewise, the Lollis Court directed a verdict of acquittal in the defendant’s favor where the state presented no direct evidence that Lollis was involved in setting fire to his home. The only circumstantial evidence against Lollis was that his wife admitted to the arson, he had placed valuables in storage prior to the fire, he possessed a key to the storage unit, and he allegedly had financial troubles. The Court found this evidence insufficient. Lollis, 343 S.C. at 584-585, 541 S.E.2d at 256-257.

In State v. Odems, 395 S.C. 582, 720 S.E.2d 48 (2012), the Court held the defendant was entitled to a directed verdict based upon a lack of substantial circumstantial evidence that the defendant was involved in the burglary. Although Odems was in a car with other individuals who admittedly burglarized a home, the state failed to provide substantial circumstantial evidence that Odems was present during the home invasion. The witness who saw individuals at the home claimed she saw two, not three as were found in the car: Fingerprints collected from the stolen goods did not match Odems, but matched the other individuals in the car. One of the individuals who admitted his involvement claimed Odems was picked up after the burglary at a gas station. Id. at 588, 720 S.E.2d at 51. As explained by the Court, although our courts have abandoned the

traditional circumstantial evidence jury charge, the language of the charge is instructive in making a directed verdict determination. The traditional charge provided:

Every circumstance relied upon by the State be proven beyond a reasonable doubt; and ... all of the circumstances proven be consistent with each other and taken together, point conclusively to the guilt of the accused to the exclusion of every other reasonable hypothesis.

Id. at 590, 720 S.E.2d at 52 (quoting State v. Hernandez, 382 S.C. 620, 626 n.2, 677 S.E.2d 603, 606 n.2 (2009)).

In State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 141, 708 S.E.2d 774, 778 (2011), the Supreme Court held the prosecution failed to present substantial circumstantial evidence of Bostick's guilt. Rather, the state's evidence was capable of producing only a suspicion of Bostick's guilt. Id. Although the police found items belonging to the victim in a burn pile behind the home of Bostick's mother, the Court held no evidence linked Bostick to the evidence in the burn pile and the prosecution presented no testimony that Bostick had control over the burn pile. Id. at 137-141, 708 S.E.2d at 775-778. The only other evidence presented against Bostick was that he had a chemical pattern that matched gasoline on his shoes and gasoline was used to start the fire at the victim's home, and DNA from blood on Bostick's jeans excluded ninety-nine percent of the population, but the expert could not testify the DNA matched the victim. Id. at 142, 708 S.E.2d at 778.

The state charged Appellant with ABHAN. Thus, the state was required to show Appellant "unlawfully injure[ed] another person and (a) great bodily injury to another person result[ed]; or (b) the act [was] accomplished by means likely to produce death or great bodily injury." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600 (B)(1). "A person cannot be convicted of any crime defined in terms of a result ... unless his act is the proximate cause of the result." McAnninch. Page 90. The Supreme Court explained "[t]he proximate cause of an injury is that cause which, in natural and continuous sequence, unbroken by an efficient intervening cause, produces the injury and without which the

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