STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

**ORIGINAL**

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2017-002168

**RECEIVED**

JAN 03 2019

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE, .....RESPONDENT,

v.

PHILIP DAVID GUDERYON, .....APPELLANT.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-0368

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON  
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Drawer 1276  
Conway, SC 29526  
(843) 915-5460

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict of acquittal because the State presented substantial circumstantial evidence of his guilt.**

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in denying trial counsel's motion for a directed verdict because the state failed to present any evidence that Appellant's conduct caused Victim's injuries. The State disagrees with this allegation of error. The State presented substantial evidence Appellant punched Victim and that the punch itself or Victim's collision with the ground after the punch caused Victim's severe head trauma.

#### Statement of Facts

Mariah Steyens, Victim's then-girlfriend, was at the bar known as Carlos 'n Charlie's with Victim on the night of October 16-17, 2015. They went there to play pool and meet up with some friends when she ran into her friend "Jimer."<sup>1</sup> Jimer touched Stevens inappropriately on her breast, so she told Victim about incident and he went over and talked to Jimer. Everything appeared peaceful between Victim and Jimer afterwards, with Jimer joining the couple for a game of pool. Stevens never witnessed any aggression from either of the men. At some point, she went to the restroom but when she returned, Victim was gone. (R.p.103, line 12-R.p.108, line 20).

According to Jimer's recollection of events, he was at the club with Appellant and a few other friends. He met Victim for the first time that night. After he touched Stevens's breasts, Victim approached him, grabbed his arm, and told Jimer that Stevens was his girlfriend. The two men shook hands and made peace; Jimer never felt threatened or scared throughout his interaction with Victim. Jimer turned his head and "felt some wind come [from] over his

---

<sup>1</sup> Jimer's legal name is James J. Petrocine, Jr. (R.p.115, line 22-R.p.116, line 3).

shoulder” and heard a hit. When he looked at Victim, he noticed he was on the ground. He did not see who hit Victim. While he spoke with Victim, Jimer believed Appellant was standing next to the bar, and learned after the attack, “either [from the police] or [Appellant]” that Appellant was the person who hit Victim. (R.p.115, line 22–R.p.131, line 14).

In the days after the crime, Sergeant Hugh Jones of the Myrtle Beach Police Department investigated the crime with a detective out of his office. They interviewed several individuals, including Jimer, and reviewed the security footage of the event. Based on the information provided by Jimer, they believed Appellant was the man who hit Victim. On October 17, 2015, they arrested Appellant and brought him to the police department where he was interviewed by the officers. He admitted to hitting Victim, but claimed he felt threatened and acted in self-defense. (R.p.132, line 5–R.p.148, line 7; State’s Exhibits 7–10).

Dr. Joseph Cheatle, the neurosurgeon who treated Victim, was qualified as an expert in his field and testified about Victim’s injuries and treatment. He was at the hospital when Victim first arrived and discovered his was in a coma. Further testing revealed Victim had a “very large subdural hematoma” which in turn caused his brain to swell. According to Dr. Cheatle, The rear of Victim’s head, near the base of his skull, was the site of impact for the force which caused his brain to collide with the front of his skull, causing the hematoma near his frontal lobe. Further, it appeared a single blow, which could have been a punch, caused the trauma. (R.p.59, line 14–R.p.67, line 12; R.p.72, lines 2–11; R.p.73, line 13–R.p.74, line 17).

To treat Victim’s severe condition, Dr. Cheatle performed an emergency craniotomy to open up a “skull flap” and relieve pressure on the brain. However, after several days, Victim’s brain began swelling again and Dr. Cheatle removed his frontal lobe in a last-ditch effort to save his life. (R.p.67, line 13–R.p.70, line 22).

On cross-examination, Dr. Cheatle testified Victim's injury could also have been caused by contact with an object, such as a bat, pipe, wrench, or even a hard surface, and that the medical staff working at Victim had no specific knowledge as to what injured him. (R.p.75, line 12–R.p.81, line 3).

At the close of the State's case, trial counsel moved for a directed verdict, claiming the State failed to meet its burden of proving Appellant caused Victim's injuries. He conceded Appellant told police he hit Victim in the face and that it was possible Victim suffered his severe brain trauma as a result of falling and striking his head on the floor. However, because there was uncertainty as to what specifically caused Victim's injury, the State failed to prove its theory of the case. (R.p.150, line 9–R.p.152, line 3; R.p.156, line 17–R.p.158, line 22)

In response, the State argued the circumstantial evidence, including the video recording of the battery, indicated Appellant struck Victim in the back of the head with a sucker-punch. When the trial judge asked whether the State was "shifting gears" and arguing Appellant could have punched Victim in the front of his head, the State claimed it was not arguing such as the lack of bruising or other indicator of a frontal blow, along with Dr. Cheatle's testimony, supported its theory of the case. However, the State eventually conceded the jury could determine Victim was hit from the front and his wound resulted with his collision with the ground. Further, the State noted there was no dispute that however Victim was hit by Appellant, the result of the attack was great bodily injury. (R.p.152, line 5–R.p.156, line 15).

While he claimed it was a "close call," the trial judge denied trial counsel's motion for a directed verdict. He believed there was sufficient evidence of Appellant's guilt, but not pursuant to the State's theory of the case that Appellant punched the back of Victim's head. Instead, it

was more likely Appellant punched the front of Victim's head and the latter's collision with the ground caused his injuries. (R.p.160, line 24–R.p.162, line 8).

Trial counsel presented evidence Appellant did not needlessly attack Victim, but instead was responding to a serious threat against himself or Jimer. Ambrose Heavener, who met Appellant while the two were incarcerated, testified he was at Carlos 'n Charlie's the night of the attack.<sup>2</sup> He recalled some type of altercation which occurred between two men, and progressed from a loud argument. The two men stood chest-to-chest, with fist clenched when Appellant approached the situation, and got in between them and tried to separate the two men. At that point, the "taller" man quickly turned towards Appellant as if he was going to hit him, so Appellant hit the man in the face, causing him to fall down. (R.p.195, line 18–R.p.218, line 14).

Steven Sumpter, another individual incarcerated with Appellant and also claimed he was at Carlos 'n Charlie's the night of the assault. He testified he was sitting at the bar when he saw Appellant approach some commotion occurring on the dance floor. Appellant approached an ongoing verbal argument and "seemed to step in between two people." The larger of the two men threw a punch at Appellant and the latter responded in kind and made contact with the large man's face and appeared to knock him out, causing him to fall straight backwards. (R.p.218, line 23–R.p.234, line 19).

At the conclusion of the defense's case, trial counsel renewed his motion for a directed verdict. Again, the trial judge denied the motion. (R.p.235, line 14–R.p.236, line 13).

#### Standard of Review

On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, the appellate court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Weston,

---

<sup>2</sup> Notably, the State presented evidence circumstantial evidence Heavener was not in Myrtle Beach the night of the attack. Heavener possessed a North Carolina driver's license and permanent residence, and was various parts of North Carolina in the days before and after the crime. (R.p.210, line 1–R.p.211, line 16).

367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006). If there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the appellate court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury. Weston, 367 S.C. at 292–93, 625 S.E.2d at 648; State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593–94, 606 S.E.2d 475, 477–78 (2004). The appellate court may only reverse the trial judge’s denial of a directed verdict motion if there is no evidence supporting the trial judge’s ruling or if the ruling is based on an error of law. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 555, 564 S.E.2d 87, 92 (2002); State v. Dantonio, 376 S.C. 594, 603, 658 S.E.2d 337, 342 (Ct. App. 2008). Indeed, “unless there is a total failure of evidence tending to establish the charge laid in the indictment, the trial judge’s ruling upon a motion for a directed verdict must stand absent an error of law.” State v. Nix, 288 S.C. 492, 496, 343 S.E.2d 627, 629 (Ct. App. 1986).

When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence or non-existence of evidence, not its weight. State v. Curtis, 356 S.C. 622, 633, 591 S.E.2d 600, 605 (2004); State v. Condrey, 349 S.C. 184, 190, 562 S.E.2d 320, 323 (Ct. App. 2002). Ultimately, the question is whether, in view of the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could find all the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Robinson, 310 S.C. 535, 539, 426 S.E.2d 317, 318 (1992) (finding any rational trier of fact could have found all the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt in affirming the denial of a motion for directed verdict and citing Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307 (1979)). The task of the trial court is to simply determine “whether the evidence presented is sufficient to allow a reasonable juror to find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.” State v. Bennett, 415 S.C. 232, 237, 781 S.E.2d 352, 354 (2016). The reviewing court should affirm if in viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, “the evidence

could induce a reasonable juror to find [the defendant] guilty.” See State v. Pearson, 415 S.C. 463, 474, 783 S.E.2d 802, 808 (2016); also State v. Richburg, 250 S.C. 451, 459, 158 S.E.2d 769, 772 (1968) (“When the evidence is susceptible of more than one reasonable inference, questions of fact must be submitted to the jury.”).

Section 16-3-600 provides:

(B)(1)A person commits the offense of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature if the person unlawfully injures another person, and:

(a) great bodily injury to another person results; or

(b) the act is accomplished by means likely to produce death or great bodily injury.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600 (B) (Supp. 2011). Further, the statute defines “great bodily injury” as “bodily injury which causes a substantial risk of death or which causes serious, permanent disfigurement or protracted loss or impairment of the function of a bodily member or organ.”

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600 (A)(1) (Supp. 2011).

#### Analysis

Appellant argues the State failed to provide evidence that Appellant’s punch caused Victim’s injury, citing to State v. Greene, 423 S.C. 263, 814 S.E.2d 496 (2018) to support this proposition. However, similar to Greene, the State presented evidence which, viewed in the light most favorable to it, supported presenting the charge to the jury. In Greene, the defendant was convicted of homicide by child abuse, involuntary manslaughter, and unlawful conduct toward a child for the death of her infant daughter (Daughter) when she died from morphine poison when she was forty-six days old. The record showed Greene, a former nurse was addicted to numerous drugs, including morphine, at the time of Daughter’s death and the State’s theory of the case was

that Greene poisoned Daughter through breastfeeding. The Supreme Court of South Carolina affirmed Greene's conviction, noting the evidence showed: (1) Appellant continuously took morphine and other drugs while pregnant with and breastfeeding Daughter; (2) Appellant took more morphine than her doctors proscribed; (3) Appellant exclusively breastfed Daughter until at least a week prior to her death, with some of Appellant's statements to police going as far as to say she "extensively" breastfed her during the two nights preceding her death. Considering the evidence in its entirety, particularly the expert testimony of a toxicologist, the Court found the evidenced provided "a substantial basis from which a reasonable juror could conclude [Greene]'s breast milk was the source of the morphine that killed [Daughter]."

Here, similar to Greene, there was substantial evidence Appellant's attack caused Victim's injuries. The State presented numerous pieces of evidence, including Appellant's own statements to police, which demonstrated he was the individual who hit Victim. Appellant's own "witnesses" agreed with this assertion. Further, Dr. Cheatle testified a powerful punch to the head, or the collision with the floor, caused Victim's head trauma; the former possibility was the State's primary theory of the case, but the evidence presented also supported the possibility that the latter killed Victim. In either situation, Victim's injuries were proximately caused by Appellant's punch. See State v. Des Champs, 126 S.C. 416, 416, 120 S.E. 491, 493 (1923) (describing the "proximate cause" of an injury as a cause which, "in natural and continuous sequence, unbroken by an efficient intervening cause, produces the injury and without which the result would not have occurred). Further, Appellant's argument that the bouncers moving Victim could have caused his injuries is not supported by the record. The record lacks any evidence indicating the bouncers who removed Victim mishandled him. Regardless, Dr. Cheatle

testified Victim's injuries originated from a single, powerful impact and not repeated, minor blows as alleged by Appellant.

Ultimately, the only element of the offense disputed at trial was whether Appellant's actions were unlawful. The surveillance video and Jimer's testimony both demonstrated Victim was not involved in an altercation with Jimer or Appellant at the time of the attack; thus, pursuant to this evidence, Appellant's actions could not be considered lawful and/or self-defense. In light of this substantial evidence of Appellant's guilt, the trial judge did not err in denying trial counsel's motion for a directed verdict. See Cherry, 361 S.C. at 593-94, 606 S.E.2d at 477-78. (finding that any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused supports the denial of directed verdict).

## II.

**The trial judge properly instructed the jury on the requirements for self-defense and the level of intent required for a conviction of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature under South Carolina law. (Appellant's Issues II and III)**

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in its instructions to the jury, claiming the trial judge improperly instructed the jury: (1) Appellant had to be in fear of "great bodily injury or death" before he could act in self-defense; and (2) regarding Appellant's "criminal intent," the State had only to prove Appellant intended to injure Victim without any regard for whether Appellant intended the level of injury which actually occurred. The State disagrees with these allegations of error. First, the State notes the trial judge did not instruct the jury that Appellant had to be in fear of "great" bodily injury, but that he had to be in fear of "serious" bodily injury. Further, the trial judge accurately and adequately explained these concepts to the jury. As demonstrated below, the trial judge did not err in either regard.

### Statement of Facts

Prior to closing arguments, the trial judge allowed the parties to submit proposed charges. Trial counsel, although he agreed with "99 percent of the self-defense charge," objected to the language stating that Appellant had to be in fear of death or great bodily injury in order to respond. He "[could not] imagine that [South Carolina] courts think that it is the law that a person that is assaulted with something less than deadly force, a fist, does not have a right to defend himself." He noted he felt it would be improper if he could go up to someone a punch him in the face that such a victim could not respond. The trial judge conceded he understood trial counsel's concerns. In response, the State argued that a person is not entitled to act in self defense for just any injury, but noted trial counsel's concerns were unfounded in the instant case

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